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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 

v. 
 
MICHAEL WESTBROOK, 
ANTHONY SIMPSON,  and 
BENJAMIN BLAND  
 

          Defendants 
 

* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 
* 

******* 

CRIMINAL NO.  JFM 13-0619 
 
(Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud, 
18 U.S.C. §  1349; Wire Fraud,  
18 U.S.C. § 1343; Social Security 
Fraud, 42 U.S.C.  § 408(a)(7)(C); 
Aggravated Identity Theft, 18 U.S.C. § 
1028A(a)(1); Aiding and Abetting, 18 
U.S.C. § 2; Forfeiture)   

                            
SECOND SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 

COUNT ONE 
(Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud) 

 
 The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland charges that: 

 At all times material to the Second Superseding Indictment: 

 1. Defendants MICHAEL WESTBROOK (“WESTBROOK”), and ANTHONY 

SIMPSON (“SIMPSON”) resided in Baltimore, Maryland.  Defendant BENJAMIN BLAND 

(“BLAND”) resided in Richmond, Virginia. 

 2. BLAND was the owner and registered agent of New Credit History, LLC, a company 

headquartered in Richmond, Virginia that hosts a website and purports to provide individuals with a 

legal means to start a new credit file through the issuance of a “secondary credit number.” 

 3. WESTBROOK was the sole owner and registered agent for The Westbrook Project, 

LLC, a home renovation company incorporated in Maryland. 
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 Financial Companies (hereinafter  collectively “the Victims”) 

 4. CapitalOne was an FDIC-insured financial lending institution headquartered in 

McLean, Virginia. 

 5. McKinney Investment Company was a financial lending company headquartered in 

Dallas, Texas, which had its cash reserves held at Texas Capital Bank and JP Morgan Chase Bank. 

 6.   Horizon Card Services was a merchandise credit lending company incorporated in 

Indiana, Pennsylvania, which had its cash reserves held at Savings and Trust Bank of Pennsylvania. 

 7.    Credit Acceptance Corporation was an auto finance company headquartered in 

Southfield, Michigan, that extended credit to car dealers nationwide. 

 8. CreditOne Bank was an FDIC-insured financial lending institution headquartered in 

Las Vegas, Nevada. 

 9. Premier Bankcard, LLC was a registered member service provider for First Premier 

Bank, an FDIC-insured lending institution headquartered in Sioux Falls, South Dakota. 

 10. JPMorganChase was an FDIC-insured bank and lending institution headquartered in 

Wilmington, Delaware. 

 11. Westlake Services was a California Limited Liability Company that provides auto 

finance for independent and franchise car dealerships. 

 12. GE Capital Bank was an FDIC-insured Utah state-chartered industrial bank owned by 

General Electric Capital Corporation. 

Social Security Administration 

 13. The United States Social Security Administration (“SSA”) administers social security 

benefits as an independent agency of the Executive Branch of the United States Government. 
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 14. The SSA issues uniquely-assigned social security numbers “(SSNs”) to United States 

citizens, permanent residents and temporary working residents as a way to track individuals for 

social security purposes, among other aims. 

 15. Social Security cards reflect an individual’s SSN and are considered “identification 

documents,” specifically, documents made or issued by or under the authority of the United States 

Government. 

Credit Scores 

 16. A credit score is a number lenders use to predict the likelihood of repayment if an 

individual is approved for a loan or credit.  Credit scores are tallied from a summary of information 

in an individual’s credit report as of the time it is reviewed and are unique to that individual. 

 17. A person’s credit report is gathered through creditor reporting of financial obligations 

and how the obligations have been paid.  An individual is identified by creditors through the 

individual’s’ unique personal identifying information (“PII”), namely their SSN. 

 18. Tradelines are each of an individual’s credit accounts that are compiled to create an 

individual’s credit report.  Tradelines are often used by consumer reporting agencies as references to 

rate an individual’s creditworthiness. 

THE CHARGE 

              19. From in or about February 2012, through in or about October 2014, in the District of 

Maryland, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, 
ANTHONY SIMPSON, and 

BENJAMIN BLAND, 
 
did unlawfully, knowingly and willfully conspire and agree with each other and with others known 
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and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit wire fraud, an offense under Chapter 69, Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 1343, that is: to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the Victims, and for 

obtaining money and property by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and 

promises from the Victims, and, for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice,  transmitted 

and caused to be transmitted by means of wire in interstate commerce, any writings, signs, signals, 

pictures, and sounds. 

Object of the Conspiracy and Scheme to Defraud 

 20.     The primary object of the conspiracy and scheme to defraud was to allow individuals 

with poor credit histories and criminal records to obtain money and property using misappropriated 

SSNs and fraudulently established credit histories.  

 Manner and Means of the Conspiracy and the Scheme and Artifice to Defraud 
 
 21.   It was part of the conspiracy and scheme to defraud that the Defendants and others 

known and unknown to the Grand Jury: 

  a. obtained SSNs previously issued to other actual persons by the SSA; 

             b. sold the misappropriated SSNs through electronic mail correspondence and 

cellular phone text messaging for use in an individual’s loan and credit applications; 

  c. caused to be prepared and instructed the users of the misappropriated SSNs to 

obtain counterfeit social security cards and drivers licenses with materially false information that 

would link the user to the misappropriated SSNs; 

  d. caused to be prepared and instructed the users of the misappropriated SSNs 

and counterfeit cards to submit materially false and fraudulent credit applications and supporting 

documentation to various commercial lenders and retailers, generating improved credit scores; and 
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             e. caused to be prepared materially false and fraudulent loan applications and 

supporting documentation that were submitted to lenders in order to receive money and property. 

 22. It was further part of the conspiracy and scheme to defraud that BLAND obtained 

and sold misappropriated SSNs, referred to as “secondary credit numbers” or “SCNs,” in order to 

enable individuals to establish false credit histories in order to deceive lenders and obtain loans. 

 23. It was further a part of the conspiracy and scheme to defraud that WESTBROOK 

communicated electronically with BLAND about purchasing misappropriated SSNs from 

BLAND. 

 24. It was further a part of the conspiracy and scheme to defraud that WESTBROOK 

provided the names and other PII of clients requesting new SSNs or SCNs to BLAND. 

 25. It was further a part of the conspiracy and scheme to defraud that BLAND sold 

the misappropriated SSNs to WESTBROOK, and associated the misappropriated SSNs with the 

names and other PII of WESTBROOK’s clients. 

 26. It was further part of the conspiracy and scheme to defraud that WESTBROOK 

gave his clients, including SIMPSON and other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury, 

the misappropriated SSNs and provided instructions to establish fraudulent creditworthiness with 

the misappropriated SSNs. 

 27. It was further a part of the conspiracy and scheme to defraud that WESTBROOK 

facilitated the acquisition of fraudulent Tradeline credit accounts for his clients and for himself in 

order to enhance their fraudulent credit histories. 

 28. It was further a part of the conspiracy and scheme to defraud that the fraudulent 

Tradeline credit accounts yielded positive credit histories for WESTBROOK and 
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WESTBROOK’s clients, thereby allowing WESTBROOK and WESTBROOK’s clients to 

deceive lenders and obtain loans by materially false and fraudulent representations and promises 

and omissions of fact. 

Overt Acts 

 29.   In furtherance of the conspiracy and scheme to defraud and to effect its objects, the 

following overt acts, among others, were committed in the District of Maryland and elsewhere: 

  a. On or about February 27, 2012, WESTBROOK opened a banking credit card 

account at Capital One using a misappropriated SSN. 

  b.  On or about March 13, 2012, WESTBROOK and SIMPSON obtained online 

a misappropriated SSN from BLAND. 

  c. On or about March 14, 2012, SIMPSON opened a banking credit card 

account at Capital One using the misappropriated SSN described in subparagraph b. 

  d. On or about March 26, 2012, WESTBROOK obtained a misappropriated 

SSN from BLAND. 

  e. On or about March 27, 2012, WESTBROOK opened a banking credit card 

account with Capital One using the misappropriated SSN described in subparagraph c. 

  f.  On or about May 11, 2012, WESTBROOK opened a line of credit with 

Horizon Card Services using a misappropriated SSN. 

  g. On or about May 17, 2012, SIMPSON applied for and received a line of 

credit from McKinney Investment Corporation using a misappropriated SSN. 

  h. On or about May 30, 2012, WESTBROOK obtained from BLAND a 

misappropriated SSN. 
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  i. On or about July 29, 2012, a person known to the Grand Jury discussed with 

WESTBROOK over electronic mail the goal of obtaining a counterfeit social security card to 

correspond to the misappropriated SSN described in subparagraph h. 

  j. In or about August 2012, WESTBOOK arranged for the person referenced in 

subparagraph i. to meet WESTBROOK’s associate at a gas station in Baltimore, Maryland in order 

to receive a photocopy of a corresponding counterfeit social security card. 

  k. On or about August 25, 2012, WESTBROOK obtained an auto loan for 

$17,698.90 that was financed through Westlake Financial Services using a misappropriated SSN 

acquired from BLAND. 

  l. On or about March 14, 2014, BLAND sent a text message to WESTBROOK 

wherein he displayed the different prices for the purchase of multiple misappropriated SSNs, which 

BLAND described as “SCNs.” 

  m. On or about March 15, 2013, WESTBROOK sent an electronic mail message 

to an individual known to the Grand Jury informing him that he had obtained a misappropriated 

SSN, which WESTBROOK agreed to sell to said individual. 

  n. On or about March 17, 2013, WESTBROOK obtained a GE Capital Retail 

Bank account using a misappropriated SSN that he received from BLAND. 

  o. On or about March 23, 2013, WESTBROOK obtained a First Premier credit 

card account using a misappropriated SSN that he received from BLAND. 

  p. On or about April 1, 2013, WESTBROOK obtained a JPMorgan Chase credit 

card account using a misappropriated SSN that he received from BLAND. 

   q.  On or about April 25, 2013, WESTBROOK provided an individual known 
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to the Grand Jury with two (2) counterfeit social security cards in exchange for U.S. currency. 

  r. On or about May 3, 2013, WESTBROOK sent an email to an individual 

known to the Grand Jury containing a misappropriated SSN. 

  s. On or about October 30, 2013, WESTBROOK obtained a CreditOne Bank 

credit card account using a misappropriated SSN that he received from BLAND. 

  t. On or about August 21, 2013, WESTBROOK obtained an auto loan for 

$25,300, which was financed through Credit Acceptance Corporation, using a misappropriated SSN 

from BLAND. 

  u. On or about July 3, 2014, BLAND sold to an individual known to the Grand 

Jury an SSN of an actual person in exchange for $199.00. 

 

18 U.S.C. § 1349 
18 U.S.C. § 2 
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COUNTS TWO THROUGH FIVE 
(Wire Fraud) 

 
           The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

1. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 18 and 20 through 29 of Count One are 

incorporated by reference here.  

2. On or about the dates set forth below, in the District of Maryland, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK,  
ANTHONY SIMPSON, and 

BENJAMIN BLAND 
 

for the purpose of executing the scheme and artifice to defraud, transmitted and caused to be 

transmitted by means of wire in interstate and foreign commerce, the following writings, signs, 

signals and sounds; to wit,  the following wire communications pertaining to fraudulently 

obtained loans: 

Count Date Sender Receiver Nature of Wire 

TWO 3/13/12 iwanta700@gmail.com newcredithistory@comcast.net Email to procure 
misappropriated 
SSN 

THREE 3/25/12 M&T Bank Branch 
Baltimore, MD 
 

Capital One Bank –  
McLean, Va 

Electronic 
Payment 
Authorization 

FOUR 10/30/12 M&T Bank Branch 
Baltimore, MD 

Capital One Bank –  
McLean, Va 

Electronic 
Payment 
Authorization 

FIVE 3/15/12 iwanta700@gmail.com mccoulibaly1972@yahoo.com Email discussing 
purchase of 
counterfeit social 
security card 

  

18 U.S.C. § 1343 
18 U.S.C. § 2 
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COUNT SIX 
(Aggravated Identity Theft) 

 
 The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

1. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 18 and 20 through 29 of Count One are 

incorporated by reference here. 

 2.  On or about March 14, 2012, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the 

defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK,  
ANTHONY SIMPSON, and 

BENJAMIN BLAND, 
 

did knowingly transfer, possess, and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of 

another person, to wit, the SSN of  an actual person (XXX-XX-9462), during and in relation to a 

violation of  Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349, as charged in Count One of this Second 

Superseding Indictment and incorporated here. 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A(a)(1) and (c)(4) 
18 U.S.C. § 2 
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COUNT SEVEN 
(Aggravated Identity Theft) 

 
 The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

1. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 18 and 20 through 28 of Count One are 

incorporated by reference here. 

2. On or about September 19, 2012, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the 

defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and 
RICHARD BLAND,  

 
did knowingly transfer, possess, and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of 

another person, to wit, the SSN of  an actual person (XXX-XX-3124), during and in relation to a 

violation of  Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349, as charged in Count One of this Second 

Superseding Indictment and incorporated here. 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A(a)(1) and (c)(4) 
18 U.S.C. § 2 
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COUNT EIGHT 
                                             (Social Security Fraud) 
 
The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

 On or about March 15, 2013, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and 
 RICHARD BLAND,  

 
for the purpose of obtaining something of value and for other purposes, knowingly sold a social 

security card that purported to be issued by the Commissioner of Social Security and knowingly 

possessed a counterfeit social security card with the intent to sell it, to wit: the defendant possessed 

and sold a counterfeit social security card bearing the SSN assigned to J.D. (XXX-XX-9436) but in 

the name of another person. 

42 U.S.C. § 408(a)(7)(C) 
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COUNT NINE 
(Aggravated Identity Theft) 

 
 The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

 On or about March 15, 2013, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and 
RICHARD BLAND,  

 
did knowingly transfer, possess, and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of 

another person, to wit, the SSN of  J.D. (XXX-XX-9436), during and in relation to a violation of  

Title 42, United States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(C), as charged in Count Eight of this Second 

Superseding Indictment and incorporated here. 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A(a)(1) and (c)(11) 
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COUNT TEN 
(Social Security Fraud) 

 
The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

 On or about April 16, 2013, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and 
RICHARD BLAND,  

 
for the purpose of obtaining something of value and for other purposes, knowingly sold a social 

security card that purported to be issued by the Commissioner of Social Security and knowingly 

possessed a counterfeit social security card with the intent to sell it, to wit: the defendant possessed 

and sold a counterfeit social security card bearing the SSN assigned to R.W. (XXX-XX-9463) but in 

the name of another person. 

42 U.S.C. §  408(a)(7)(C) 
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COUNT ELEVEN 
(Aggravated Identity Theft) 

 
 The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

On or about April 16, 2013, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and 
RICHARD BLAND,  

 
did knowingly transfer, possess, and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of 

another person, to wit, the SSN of  R.W. (XXX-XX-9463), during and in relation to a violation of  

Title 42, United States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(C), as charged in Count Ten of this Second 

Superseding Indictment and incorporated here. 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A(a)(1) and (c)(11) 
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COUNT TWELVE 
(Social Security Fraud) 

 
The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

 On or about April 18, 2013, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and 
RICHARD BLAND,  

 
for the purpose of obtaining something of value and for other purposes, knowingly sold a social 

security card that purported to be issued by the Commissioner of Social Security and knowingly 

possessed a counterfeit social security card with the intent to sell it, to wit:  the defendant possessed 

and sold a counterfeit social security card bearing the SSN assigned to D.T. (XXX-XX-5284) but in 

the name of another person. 

42 U.S.C. §  408(a)(7)(C)  
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COUNT THIRTEEN 
(Aggravated Identity Theft) 

 
 The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

 On or about April 18, 2013, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and 
RICHARD BLAND,  

 
did knowingly transfer, possess, and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of 

another person, to wit, the SSN of  D.T. (XXX-XX-5284), during and in relation to a violation of  

Title 42, United States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(C), as charged in Count Twelve of this Second 

Superseding Indictment and incorporated here. 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A(a)(1) and (c)(11) 
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COUNT FOURTEEN 
(Social Security Fraud) 

 
The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

 On or about May 3, 2013, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and 
RICHARD BLAND,  

 
for the purpose of obtaining something of value and for other purposes, knowingly sold a social 

security card that purported to be issued by the Commissioner of Social Security and knowingly 

possessed a counterfeit social security card with the intent to sell it, to wit: the defendant possessed 

and sold a counterfeit social security card bearing the SSN assigned to A.Y. (XXX-XX-9687) but in 

the name of another person. 

42 U.S.C. § 408(a)(7)(C) 
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COUNT FIFTEEN 
(Aggravated Identity Theft) 

 
 The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

On or about May 3, 2013, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and 
RICHARD BLAND, 

 
did knowingly transfer, possess, and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of 

another person, to wit, the SSN of  A.Y. (XXX-XX-9687), during and in relation to a violation of  

Title 42, United States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(C), as charged in Count Fourteen of this Second 

Superseding Indictment and incorporated here. 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A(a)(1) and (c)(11) 
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COUNT SIXTEEN 
(Social Security Fraud) 

 
The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

On or about August 12, 2013, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and  
RICHARD BLAND,  

 
for the purpose of obtaining something of value and for other purposes, knowingly sold five social 

security cards that purported to be issued by the Commissioner of Social Security and knowingly 

possessed five counterfeit social security cards with the intent to sell them, to wit: the defendant 

possessed and sold counterfeit social security cards bearing the following SSNs assigned to the 

individuals set forth herein but in the name of another person. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

42 U.S.C. §  408(a)(7)(C) 

 

Social Security No. Social Security No.  
Assigned to: 

(XXX-XX-9826) Unknown 

(XXX-XX-2392) R.A. 

(XXX-XX-4529) N.W. 

 (XXX-XX-7536) A.K. 

 (XXX-XX-8634) C.N. 
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COUNT SEVENTEEN 
(Aggravated Identity Theft) 

 
 The Grand Jury for the District of Maryland further charges that: 

 On or about August 12, 2013, in the District of Maryland and elsewhere, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK, and  
RICHARD BLAND,  

 
did knowingly transfer, possess, and use, without lawful authority, a means of identification of 

another person, to wit, the SSNs set forth below, during and in relation to a violation of Title 42, 

United States Code, Section 408(a)(7)(C), as charged in Count Sixteen of this Second Superseding 

Indictment incorporated here: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1028A(a)(1) and (c)(11) 

 

 

Social Security No. 

(XXX-XX-2392) 

(XXX-XX-4529) 

(XXX-XX-7536) 

(XXX-XX-8634) 
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FORFEITURE 

1.   Pursuant to Rule 32.2, Fed. R. Crim. P., notice is hereby given to the defendant 

that the United States will seek forfeiture as part of any sentence in accordance with Title 28, 

United States Code, §2461(c), in the event of the defendant=s conviction under Counts One 

through Five of this Second Superseding Indictment.      

3.    As a result of the offenses set forth in Counts One through Five, the defendants, 

MICHAEL WESTBROOK,  
ANTHONY SIMPSON, and 

BENJAMIN BLAND, 
 

shall forfeit to the United States any and all property constituting, or derived from, proceeds 

obtained directly or indirectly as a result of such violations, including all interest and proceeds 

traceable thereto, including, but not limited to:  

a. at least approximately $2.5 million; and 

b. All funds held in PNC Bank, account number 53-1010-1213. 
 

  SUBSTITUTE ASSETS 

4.  If any of the property described above as being subject to forfeiture, as a result of any 

act or omission of the defendant, 

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; 

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or 

e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without 

difficulty; 
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it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code § 853(p) to seek 

forfeiture of any property of the defendant up to the value of any property described in sub-

paragraphs (a) through (c) above, including but not limited to: 

 f. The vehicles identified as: 
 
   2007 Mercedes-Benz S550 4MATIC, VIN: WDDNG86X07A109346;  
 
   2010 BMW 535XI, VIN: WBANV9C52AC139482; and 
 
   2011 BMW X5 XDRIVE35I, VIN: 5UXZV4C51BL410992. 
 

28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) 
18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) 
18 U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7) 
21 U.S.C. § 853(p) 
 

 

 

               _________________________  
     Rod J. Rosenstein 

 United States Attorney  
A TRUE BILL: 
 
___________________________  ___________________________ 
Foreperson    Date 
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